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Item 1. Financial Statements

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Inventories, net

Contract assets

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Lease right-of-use assets
Deferred income taxes
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates
Other assets
Total assets

ASSETS

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(In millions, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities
Current portion of lease liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt and short-term borrowings

Accrued income taxes

Total current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock - par value $.01; 1 billion shares authorized; 385,932,098 and
383,426,654 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019 and

December 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total Company stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

2

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
1,270 1,427
1,793 2,101
3,131 2,986
539 565
205 200
6,938 7,279
2,605 2,797
789 —
11 11
6,292 6,264
2,942 3,020
299 301
126 124
20,002 19,796
679 722
876 1,088
412 458
115 7
21 66
2,103 2,341
728 222
2,483 2,482
565 564
283 298
6,162 5,907
4 4
8,408 8,390
(1,413) (1,437)
6,766 6,862
13,765 13,819
75 70
13,840 13,889
20,002 19,796




NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
(In millions, except per share data)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019 2018

Revenue $ 1,940 $ 1,795
Cost of revenue 1,684 1,508

Gross profit 256 287
Selling, general and administrative 304 288

Operating loss (48) (1)
Interest and financial costs 25) 24)
Interest income 6 7
Equity income in unconsolidated aftiliates — 2
Other income (expense), net (18) (47)

Loss before income taxes (85) (63)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (10) 3

Net loss 75) (66)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 2 2

Net loss attributable to Company $ a7 % (68)
Net loss attributable to Company per share:

Basic $ (0.20) $ (0.18)

Diluted $ (0.20) S (0.18)
Cash dividends per share $ 005 $ 0.05
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 380 377

Diluted 380 377

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (UNAUDITED)

Net loss
Currency translation adjustments

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.

(In millions)

Changes in derivative financial instruments, net of tax

Changes in defined benefit plans, net of tax
Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Comprehensive loss attributable to Company

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018
75) $ (66)
20 36
4 13
(51) 17)
2 2
(53) $ (19)




NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(In millions)

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ 75) $ (66)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 177 173
Deferred income taxes ) 5
Equity income in unconsolidated affiliates — 2)
Other, net 35 19
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Receivables 326 (79)
Inventories (152) (146)
Contract assets 26 80
Prepaid and other current assets “) (20)
Accounts payable (49) 14
Accrued liabilities (234) (279)
Contract liabilities (46) 77
Income taxes payable 45) (46)
Other assets/liabilities, net 12 141
Net cash used by operating activities $ (38) $ (129)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (43) 39)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (65) (36)
Other 1 14
Net cash used in investing activities $ 107) $ (61)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash dividends paid 19) 19)
Other (1) 1
Net cash used in financing activities (20) (18)
Effect of exchange rates on cash 8 7
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (157) (201)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,427 1,437
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 1,270  $ 1,236
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments during the period for:
Interest $ 5 8% 3
Income taxes $ 29§ 42

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.



NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(In millions)

Accumulated Total
Additional Other Retained Company Total
Shares Common Paid in Comprehensive Earnings Stockholders'  Noncontrolling  Stockholders'
OQutstanding Stock Capital Income (Loss) (Loss) Equity Interests Equity
Balance at December 31, 2018 383 8§ 4 3 8390 § (1,437) $ 6,862 § 13,819 § 70 $ 13,889
Net income (loss) — — — — (77) 77) 2 (75)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net — — — 24 — 24 — 24
Cash dividends, $0.05 per common share — — — — (19) (19) — (19)
Noncontrolling interest — — — — — — 3 3
Stock-based compensation — — 12 — — 12 — 12
Common stock issued 3 — 6 — — 6 — 6
Balance at March 31, 2019 386 $ 4 3 8,408 § (1,413) $ 6,766  $ 13,765 § 75 8 13,840
Accumulated Total
Additional Other Retained Company Total
Shares Common Paid in Comprehensive Earnings Stockholders'  Noncontrolling  Stockholders'
Outstanding Stock Capital Income (Loss) (Loss) Equity Interests Equity

Balance at December 31, 2017 380§ 4 3 8234 § (1,110) $ 6,966 $ 14,094 § 66 $ 14,160
Net income (loss) — — — — (68) (68) — (68)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net — — — 49 — 49 — 49
Cash dividends, $0.05 per common share — — — — 19) (19) — (19)
Adoption of new accounting standards — — — — 4 4 — 4
Noncontrolling interest — — — — — — 3 3
Stock-based compensation — — 19 — — 19 — 19
Common stock issued 2 — 3 — — 3 — 3
Balance at March 31, 2018 382§ 4 3 8256 $ (1,061) $ 6,883 §$ 14,082 $ 69 $ 14,151

See notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.



NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported and contingent amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (“NOV” or the “Company”) present information in accordance
with GAAP in the United States for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and applicable rules of Regulation S-X. They do not
include all information or footnotes required by GAAP in the United States for complete consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction
with the Company’s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature unless otherwise disclosed, necessary for a
fair presentation of the results for the interim periods. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements in order for them to
conform with the current presentation, including the reclassification of $229 million from the December 31, 2018 debt balance to leases. The results of
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables was approximately the same as their presented carrying values because of the short
maturities of these instruments. The fair value of long-term debt is provided in Note 8, and the fair values of derivative financial instruments are provided in
Note 11.

2. Inventories, net

Inventories consist of (in millions):

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

Raw materials and supplies $ 627 $ 614
Work in process 556 501
Finished goods and purchased products 1,948 1,871

Total $ 3,131 $ 2,986

3. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of (in millions):
March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

Compensation $ 189 § 331
Vendor costs 119 127
Warranties 102 105
Taxes (non-income) 77 124
Insurance 54 55
Commissions 34 34
Interest 27 7
Fair value of derivatives 24 23
Other 250 282

Total $ 876 $ 1,088




Warranties

The Company provides warranties on certain of its products and services. The Company accrues warranty liability based upon specific claims and a review of
historical claim experience in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 450 “Contingencies”. Adjustments are made to accruals as
claim data and historical experience change. In addition, the Company incurs discretionary costs to service its products in connection with product performance
issues and accrues for them when they are encountered.

The changes in the warranty provision are as follows (in millions):

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 105
Net provisions for warranties during the period 9
Amounts incurred (12)
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ 102
4. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows (in millions):

Derivative Defined
Currency Financial Benefit
Translation Instruments, Plans,
Adjustments Net of Tax Net of Tax Total
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (1,396) $ a14) $ 27) $ (1,437)
Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) before reclassifications 20 3 — 23
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) — 1 — 1
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ (1,376) $ (10) § 27) $ (1,413)

The components of amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2019 2018
Currency Derivative Defined Currency Derivative Defined
Translation Financial Benefit Translation Financial Benefit
Adjustments Instruments Plans Total Adjustments Instr t: Plans Total
Revenue $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 1 s — 3 1)
Cost of revenue — 1 — 1 — ) — “)
Tax effect — — — — — 2 — 2
$ — 1 8 — 8 [ — 3) $ — 8 3)

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. A majority of the Company’s international entities in which there is a substantial investment have the local
currency as their functional currency. As a result, currency translation adjustments resulting from the process of translating the entities’ financial statements into
the reporting currency are reported in other comprehensive income (loss). For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, a majority of these local

currencies strengthened against the U.S. dollar, resulting in other comprehensive income of $20 million and $36 million, respectively.

The effect of changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are accumulated in other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax, until
the underlying transactions they hedge are realized. The movement in other comprehensive income (loss) from period to period will be the result of the
combination of changes in fair value of open derivatives and the outflow of other comprehensive income (loss) related to cumulative changes in the fair value
of derivatives that have settled in the current period. The accumulated effect was other comprehensive income of $4 million (net of tax of $1 million) and $13
million (net of tax of $4 million) for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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S.

Financial results by operating segment are as follows (in millions):

Segments

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018

Revenue:

Wellbore Technologies 807 $ 711

Completion & Production Solutions 581 670

Rig Technologies 603 483

Eliminations (51) (69)
Total revenue 1,940 $ 1,795
Operating profit (loss):

Wellbore Technologies 19 12

Completion & Production Solutions (35) 16

Rig Technologies 31 18

Eliminations and corporate costs (63) 47)
Total operating profit (loss) (48) $ (1)
Operating profit (loss)%:

Wellbore Technologies 2.4% 1.7%

Completion & Production Solutions (6.0%) 2.4%

Rig Technologies 5.1% 3.7%
Total operating profit (loss)% (2.5%) (0.1%)

Sales from one segment to another generally are priced at estimated equivalent commercial selling prices; however, segments originating an external sale are
credited with the full profit to the Company. Eliminations include intercompany transactions conducted between the three reporting segments that are eliminated
in consolidation. Intrasegment transactions are eliminated within each segment.

6.

Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue by major geographic and market segment destination. In the table, North America includes the U.S.
and Canada (in millions):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2019 2018
Completion Completion
Wellbore & Production Rig Wellbore & Production Rig
Technologies Solutions Technologies  Eliminations Total Technologies Solutions Technologies  Eliminations Total

North America  $ 460 $ 269 § 141 $ — 3 870 $ 415  § 292 $ 135 § — 3 842
International 331 296 443 — 1,070 282 358 313 — 953
Eliminations 16 16 19 (51) — 14 20 35 (69) —
$ 807 $ 581 $ 603 $ (51) $ 1,940 $ 711 $ 670 $ 483 § ©9) $ 1,795
Land $ 665 S 405§ 215§ — $ 1285 $ 583§ 446 3 172§ — $ 1201
Offshore 126 160 369 — 655 114 204 276 — 594
Eliminations 16 16 19 (51) — 14 20 35 (69) —
$ 807 $ 581 $ 603 $ (51) $§ 1,940 $ 711§ 670 $ 483 § ©9) $ 1,795




Performance Obligations

Net revenue recognized from performance obligations partially satisfied in previous periods was $16 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019
primarily due to change orders.

Remaining performance obligations represents the transaction price of firm orders for all revenue streams for which work has not been performed on contracts
with original expected duration of one year or more. We do not disclose the remaining performance obligations of royalty contracts, service contracts for which
there is a right to invoice, and short-term contracts that are expected to have a duration of one year or less. As of March 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was $1,681 million. The Company expects to recognize approximately $715 million in
revenue for the remaining performance obligations in 2019 and $966 million in 2020 and thereafter.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets include unbilled amounts when revenue recognized exceeds the amount billed to the customer under contracts where revenue is recognized
over-time. Contract liabilities consist of customer billings in excess of revenue recognized under over-time contracts, customer advance payments and deferred
revenue.

The changes in the carrying amount of contract assets and contract liabilities are as follows (in millions):

Contract Contract
Assets Liabilities
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 565 $ 458
Billings (215) 93
Revenue recognized 223 (118)
Currency translation adjustments and other (34) (21)
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ 539 $ 412

There were no impairment losses recorded on contract assets for the periods ending March 31, 2019 or 2018.

7. Leases

Effective January 1, 2019 the Company adopted the new US GAAP accounting rules in ASC Topic 842, Leases (ASC 842), using the modified retrospective
method. The Company elected to follow the package of practical expedients provided under the transition guidance within ASC 842, the practical expedient to
account for lease and non-lease components as a single lease, and to not include leases with an initial term of less than 12 months in lease assets and liabilities.

At adoption of ASC 842, January 1, 2019, the Company had lease right-of-use assets of $786 million ($537 million operating and $249 million financing) and
lease liabilities of $839 million ($554 million operating and $285 million financing). The adoption had no material effect on retained earnings.

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment to support its operations around the world. These leases generally require the Company to pay
maintenance, insurance, taxes and other operating costs in addition to rent. Renewal options are common in longer term leases; however, it is rare that the
Company initially intends that a lease option will be exercised due to the cyclical nature of the Company’s business. Residual value guarantees are not typically
part of the Company’s leases. Occasionally, the Company sub-leases excess facility space, generally at terms similar to the source lease. The Company reviews
agreements at inception to determine if they include a lease and, when they do, uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the future
lease payments as most do not include implicit interest rates.

At adoption of ASC 842, for those existing leases that included a periodic rent adjustment based on an index (or a similar variable rate), the asset and liability
balances were updated with the January 1, 2019 index. Going forward, new such leases are initially valued at the index rate in effect on the lease
commencement date, and, for all continuing such leases, subsequent changes in variable rates will be recorded to expense.

Components of leases are as follows (in millions):
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Lease right-of-use assets:
Operating
Financing
Total

Current portion of lease liabilities:
Operating
Financing
Total

Long-term portion of lease liability:
Operating
Financing
Total

Components of lease expense were as follows (in millions):

Lease cost
Finance lease cost
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Operating lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost
Sub-lease income
Total

Supplemental information related to the Company’s leases for the three months ended March 31, 2019 was as follows (in millions):

Other information

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from finance leases
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities

Weighted average remaining lease term - finance leases
Weighted average remaining lease term - operating leases

Weighted average discount rate - finance leases
Weighted average remaining lease term - operating leases

11

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
542 $ =
247 —
789 $ —
March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
91 $ —
24 7
115 $ 7
March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
468 $ =
260 $ 222
728 $ 222
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019
$ 8
4
33
16
3)
$ 58
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019
$ 4
33
7
$
31
17 years
10 years
5.53%
5.03%



Future minimum lease commitments for leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more at March 31, 2019, are payable as follows (in millions):

Undiscounted Cash Flows Finance Operating
04/01/2019 - 03/31/2020 $ 38 $ 121
04/01/2020 - 03/31/2021 34 100
04/01/2021 - 03/31/2022 28 84
04/01/2022 - 03/31/2023 21 64
04/01/2023 - 03/31/2024 17 50
04/01/2024 - beyond 254 302
Total lease payments 392 721
Less: Interest (108) (162)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 284 $ 559
8. Debt

Debt consists of (in millions):

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
$1.4 billion in Senior Notes, interest at 2.60% payable
semiannually, principal due on December 1, 2022 $ 1,395 $ 1,394
$1.1 billion in Senior Notes, interest at 3.95% payable
semiannually, principal due on December 1, 2042 1,088 1,088
Total $ 2,483 $ 2,482

The Company has a $3.0 billion, five-year unsecured revolving credit facility, which expires on June 27, 2022. The Company has the right to increase the
aggregate commitments under this agreement to an aggregate amount of up to $4.0 billion upon the consent of only those lenders holding any such increase.
Interest under the multicurrency facility is based upon LIBOR, NIBOR or CDOR plus 1.125% subject to a ratings-based grid or the U.S. prime rate. The credit
facility contains a financial covenant regarding maximum debt-to-capitalization ratio of 60%. As of March 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with a
debt-to-capitalization ratio of 16.7%.

The Company has a commercial paper program under which borrowings are classified as long-term since the program is supported by the $3.0 billion, five-year
credit facility. At March 31, 2019, there were no commercial paper borrowings, and there were no outstanding letters of credit issued under the credit facility,

resulting in $3.0 billion of funds available under this credit facility.

The Company had $470 million of outstanding letters of credit at March 31, 2019, primarily in the U.S. and Norway, that are under various bilateral letter of
credit facilities. Letters of credit are issued as bid bonds, advanced payment bonds and performance bonds.
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At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Company’s unsecured Senior Notes approximated $2,305 million and $2,211 million,
respectively. The fair value of the Company’s debt is estimated using Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy and is based on quoted prices for those or similar
instruments. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the carrying value of the Company’s unsecured Senior Notes approximated $2,483 million and $2,482
million, respectively.

9. Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was 11.8% and (4.8)%, respectively. The Company established valuation allowances
on deferred tax assets for losses and tax credits generated in 2018 and established valuation allowances on deferred tax assets for losses generated in 2019. The
change in the effective tax rate from 2018 to 2019 was impacted by a change in jurisdictional mix of income between the two periods and 2019 had less adverse
impact from the establishment of valuation allowances.

For the three months ended March 31, 2018, the Company utilized the discrete-period method to compute its interim tax provision due to significant variations
in the relationship between income tax expense and pre-tax accounting income or loss. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company estimated and
recorded tax based on a full year effective tax rate.

10.  Stock-Based Compensation

The Company’s stock-based compensation plan, known as the National Oilwell Varco, Inc. 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”), was approved by
shareholders on May 11, 2018. The 2018 Plan provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, phantom
shares, stock appreciation rights, stock payments and substitute awards. The number of shares authorized under the 2018 Plan is 17.8 million. The 2018 Plan is
also subject to a fungible ratio concept, such that the issuance of stock options and stock appreciation rights reduces the number of available shares under the
2018 Plan on a 1-for-1 basis, and the issuance of other awards reduces the number of available shares under the 2018 Plan on a 2.5-for-1 basis. At March 31,
2019, 8,212,512 shares remain available for future grants under the 2018 Plan.

The Company also has outstanding awards under its other stock-based compensation plan known as the National Oilwell Varco, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the “Plan”), however the Company is no longer granting awards under the Plan. The Plan provides for the granting of stock options, performance-based share
awards, restricted stock, phantom shares, stock payments and stock appreciation rights. The number of shares authorized under the Plan is 69.4 million. The
Plan is subject to a fungible ratio concept, such that the issuance of stock options and stock appreciation rights reduces the number of available shares under the
Plan on a 1-for-1 basis, and the issuance of other awards reduces the number of available shares under the Plan on a 3-for-1 basis.

On February 27, 2019, under the 2018 Plan, the Company granted 1,493,576 stock options with a fair value of $9.06 per option and an exercise price of $28.72
per share; 2,895,086 shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units with a fair value of $28.72 per share; and performance share awards to senior
management employees with potential payouts varying from zero to 665,740 shares. The stock options vest over a three-year period from the grant date. The
restricted stock and restricted stock units vest in three equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date. The performance share
awards can be earned based on performance against two established goals over a three-year performance period. The performance share awards are divided into
two independent parts that are subject to two separate performance metrics: 85% with a TSR (total shareholder return) goal and 15% with an internal NVA
(return on capital metric) goal. Performance against the TSR goal is determined by comparing the performance of the Company’s TSR with the TSR
performance of the members of the OSX index for the three-year performance period. The NVA goal is based on the Company’s improvement in NVA
(National Oilwell Varco Value Added) from the beginning of the performance period until the end of the performance period. NVA shall be calculated as an
amount equal to the Company’s (a) gross cash earnings less (b) average gross operating assets times an amount equal to a required return on assets.

Total stock-based compensation for all stock-based compensation arrangements under the Plan and the 2018 Plan was $33 million and $27 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The total income tax benefit recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for all stock-based compensation arrangements under the Plan was $4
million and $2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

11. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed by using derivative instruments is the foreign
currency exchange rate risk associated with sourcing goods and services in a currency different than the currency of sale. Forward currency contracts are
executed to manage the foreign exchange risk on forecasted revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
operating unit (cash flow hedge). In addition, the Company
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executes forward currency contracts to manage the foreign currency risk on recognized nonfunctional currency monetary accounts (non-designated hedge).

The Company had the following outstanding foreign currency forward contracts at year end (in millions):

Currency D ination
March 31, December 31,

Foreign Currency 2019 2018
South Korean Won KRW 17,600 KRW -
Norwegian Krone NOK 4,725 NOK 5,229
U.S. Dollar USD 699 USD 631
Mexican Peso MXN 193 MXN 204
Euro EUR 192 EUR 172
South African Rand ZAR 124 ZAR 124
Japanese Yen JPY 121 JPY 121
Danish Krone DKK 103 DKK 35
Singapore Dollar SGD 38 SGD -
British Pound Sterling GBP 22 GBP 12
Canadian Dollar CAD 2 CAD —

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

To protect against the volatility of forecasted foreign currency cash flows resulting from forecasted revenues and expenses, the Company has instituted a cash
flow hedging program. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative
instrument is reported as a component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted
transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings (e.g., in “revenues” when the hedged transactions are cash
flows associated with forecasted revenues). Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship and components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) during the current period. Upon the adoption of ASU 2017-12, the Company elected to include
time value in hedge relationships.

Non-designated Hedging Strategy

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge certain nonfunctional currency monetary accounts. The gain or loss on the derivative instrument
is recognized in other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss), together with the changes in the hedged nonfunctional monetary
accounts.
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The Company has the following fair values of its derivative instruments and their balance sheet classifications (in millions):

Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
under ASC Topic 815

Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Total derivatives designated
as hedging instruments
under ASC Topic 815

Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
under ASC Topic 815

Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Total derivatives not
designated as hedging
instruments under ASC
Topic 815

Total derivatives

Asset Derivatives

Liability Derivatives

Fair Value Fair Value
Balance Sheet March 31, December 31, Balance Sheet March 31, December 31,
Location 2019 2018 Location 2019 2018

Prepaid and other current

assets Accrued liabilities $ 16 17

Other Assets — —  Other liabilities 7 11
$ 23 28

Prepaid and other current

assets Accrued liabilities $ 8 6

Other Assets — —  Other Liabilities — 2
$ 8 8
$ 31 36
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The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) ($ in millions)

Derivatives in Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
ASC Topic 815 Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Reclassified from Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
Cash Flow Hedging Recognized in Accumulated Accumulated OCI Recognized in Income on Recognized in Income on
Relationships OCI on Derivative OCI into Income into Income Derivative Derivative
Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
March 31, March 31, March 31,
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Revenue — 1 Cost of revenue — —
Foreign exchange Other income(expense),
contracts 3 22 Cost of revenue (1) 4 net 3) (1)
Total 3 22 1) 5 3) 1)
Derivatives Not Designated
as Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)

Hedging Instruments under Recognized in Income Recognized in Income on

ASC Topic 815 on Derivative Derivative

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019 2018

Foreign exchange Other income (expense),
contracts net 4 11
Total 4 11

12. Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Company Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding (in millions, except per share data):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018

Numerator:

Net loss attributable to Company $ 77) $ (68)
Denominator:

Basic—weighted average common shares outstanding 380 377

Dilutive effect of employee stock options and other

unvested stock awards — —

Diluted outstanding shares 380 377
Net loss attributable to Company per share:

Basic $ (0.20) $ (0.18)

Diluted $ (0.20) $ (0.18)
Cash dividends per share $ 005 § 0.05




ASC Topic 260, “Earnings Per Share” requires companies with unvested participating securities to utilize a two-class method for the computation of net income
attributable to Company per share. The two-class method requires a portion of net income attributable to Company to be allocated to participating securities,
which are unvested awards of share-based payments with non-forfeitable rights to receive dividends or dividend equivalents, if declared. Net income (loss)
attributable to Company allocated to these participating securities was immaterial for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 and therefore not
excluded from net income attributable to Company per share calculation.

The Company had stock options outstanding that were anti-dilutive totaling 21 million shares and 19 million shares for each of the three months ended March
31,2019 and 2018, respectively.

13.  Cash Dividends

On March 1, 2019, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.05 per share. The cash dividend was paid on March 28,
2019, to each stockholder of record on March 15, 2019. Cash dividends were $19 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The
declaration and payment of future dividends is at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will be dependent upon the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by the Company’s Board of Directors.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Our business is affected by governmental laws and regulations relating to the oilfield service industry, including, health, safety and environmental laws and
regulations, as well as customs and trade laws and regulations. We have not incurred material unreserved costs in connection with our compliance with such
laws. However, there can be no assurance that other developments, such as new laws, regulations and enforcement policies may not result in additional,
presently unquantifiable, costs or liabilities to us.

The Company is exposed to customs and regulatory risk in the countries in which we do business or to which we transport goods. For example, the effects of
the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union, known as Brexit may have a negative impact on our results from operations. Uncertainty
concerning the legal and regulatory risks of Brexit, include: (i) supply chain risks resulting from lack of trade agreements, potential changes in customs
administrations or tariff; (ii) revenue risk, loss of customers or increased costs; (iii) delays in delivery of materials to the Company or delay in delivery by the
Company; (iv) the need for renegotiation of agreements; and other business disruptions. In addition, trade regulations and laws may adversely impact our ability
to do business in certain countries, e.g., Iran, Russia and Venezuela. Such trade regulations can be complex and present compliance challenges.

The Company is involved in various claims, internal investigations, regulatory agency audits and pending or threatened legal actions involving a variety of
matters. In many instances, the Company maintains insurance that covers claims arising from risks associated with the business activities of the Company,
including claims for premises liability, product liability and other such claims. The Company carries substantial insurance to cover such risks above a self-
insured retention. The Company believes, and the Company’s experience has been, that such insurance has been sufficient to cover such risks. See Item 1A.
Risk Factors.

The Company is also a party to claims, threatened and actual litigation, and private arbitration arising from ordinary day to day business activities, in which
parties assert claims against the Company for a broad spectrum of potential claims and theories of liability, including: individual employment law claims,
collective actions under federal employment laws, intellectual property claims, including alleged patent infringement, and/or misappropriation of trade secrets,
premises liability claims, product liability claims, warranty claims, personal injuries arising from allegedly defective products, alleged improper payments under
anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and other commercial claims seeking recovery for alleged actual or exemplary damages. For many such contingent claims,
the Company’s insurance coverage is inapplicable or an exclusion to coverage may apply. In such instances, settlement or other resolution of such contingent
claims could have a material financial or reputational impact on the Company.

As of March 31, 2019, the Company recorded reserves in an amount believed to be enough for contingent liabilities representing all contingencies believed to
be probable. The Company has assessed the potential for additional losses above the amounts accrued as well as potential losses for matters that are not
probable but are reasonably possible. The litigation process as well as the final outcome of regulatory oversight is inherently uncertain, and our best judgment
concerning the probable outcome of litigation or regulatory enforcement matters may prove to be incorrect in some instances. The total potential loss on these
matters cannot be determined; however, in our opinion, any ultimate liability, to the extent not otherwise provided for, will not materially affect our financial
position, cash flow or results of operations. These estimated liabilities are based on the Company’s assessment of the nature of these matters, their progress
toward resolution, the advice of legal counsel and outside experts as well as management’s experience. Of course, because
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of uncertainty and risk inherent to litigation and arbitration, the actual liabilities incurred may exceed our estimated liabilities and reserves, which could have a
material financial or reputational impact on the Company.

Further, in some instances, direct or indirect consumers of our products and services, entities providing financing for purchases of our products and services or
members of the supply chain for our products and services have become involved in governmental investigations, internal investigations, political or other
enforcement matters. In such circumstances, such investigations may adversely impact the ability of consumers of our products, entities providing financial
support to such consumers or entities in the supply chain to timely perform their business plans or to timely perform under agreements with us. We may, from
time to time, become involved in these investigations, at substantial cost to the Company. We also are subject to trade regulations and other regulatory
compliance in which the laws and regulations of different jurisdictions conflict or trade regulations may conflict with contractual terms. In such circumstances,
our compliance with U.S. laws and regulations may subject us to risk of fines, penalties or contractual liability in other jurisdictions. Our efforts to actively
manage such risks may not always be successful which could lead to negative impacts on revenue or earnings.

15. New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In August 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2017-12 “Derivatives and Hedging — Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities” (ASU 2017-12). This update improves the financial reporting of hedging relationships and simplifies the application of the hedge accounting
guidance. ASU 2017-12 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
adopted this update on January 1, 2019, with no material impact.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASC Topic 842, “Leases” (ASC Topic 842), which supersedes the lease requirements in ASC Topic No. 840 “Leases” and
most industry-specific guidance. This update increases transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on
the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. ASC Topic 842 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018,
and for interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU Topic 842 on January 1, 2019. Refer to Note 7, Leases, for the impact of this
adoption on the Company’s financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which allows for a
reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the
“Tax Act”). The Company adopted ASU Topic 2018-02 on January 1, 2019 and elected not to reclassify stranded tax effects caused by tax reform from AOCI to
retained earnings.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (ASC Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.
This update improves financial reporting by requiring earlier recognition of credit losses on financing receivables and other financial assets in scope. ASU
2016-13 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently
evaluating the effect of adopting this standard.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction

National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading independent provider of equipment and technology to the upstream oil and gas industry. The
Company designs, manufactures and services a comprehensive line of drilling and well servicing equipment; sells and rents drilling motors, specialized
downhole tools, and rig instrumentation; performs inspection and internal coating of oilfield tubular products; provides drill cuttings separation, management
and disposal systems and services; and provides expendables and spare parts used in conjunction with the Company’s large installed base of equipment. The
Company also manufactures coiled tubing and high-pressure fiberglass and composite tubing, and sells and rents advanced in-line inspection equipment to
makers of oil country tubular goods. The Company has a long tradition of pioneering innovations which improve the cost-effectiveness, efficiency, safety, and
environmental impact of oil and gas operations.

Unless indicated otherwise, results of operations are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial information in order to conform with current period presentation. The Company discloses
Adjusted EBITDA (defined as Operating Profit excluding Depreciation, Amortization and, when applicable, Other Items) in its periodic earnings press releases
and other public disclosures to provide investors additional information about the results of ongoing operations. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures and
Reconciliations in Results of Operations for an explanation of our use of non-GAAP financial measures and reconciliations to their corresponding measures
calculated in accordance with GAAP.

Wellbore Technologies

The Company’s Wellbore Technologies segment designs, manufactures, rents, and sells a variety of equipment and technologies used to perform drilling
operations, and offers services that optimize their performance, including: solids control and waste management equipment and services; drilling fluids;
portable power generation; premium drill pipe; wired pipe; drilling optimization and automation services; tubular inspection, repair and coating services; rope
access inspection; instrumentation; measuring and monitoring; downhole and fishing tools; steerable technologies; hole openers; and drill bits.

Wellbore Technologies focuses on oil and gas companies and supports drilling contractors, oilfield service companies, and oilfield equipment rental companies.
Demand for the segment’s products and services depends on the level of oilfield drilling activity by oil and gas companies, drilling contractors, and oilfield
service companies.

Completion & Production Solutions

The Company’s Completion & Production Solutions segment integrates technologies for well completions and oil and gas production. The segment designs,
manufactures, and services equipment and technologies needed for hydraulic fracture stimulation, including downhole multistage fracturing tools, pressure
pumping trucks, blenders, sanders, hydration units, injection units, flowline, and manifolds; well intervention, including coiled tubing units, coiled tubing, and
wireline units and tools; well construction, including premium connections and liner hangers; onshore production, including composite pipe, surface transfer
and progressive cavity pumps, and artificial lift systems; and, offshore production, including floating production systems and subsea production technologies.

Completion & Production Solutions supports service companies and oil and gas companies. Demand for the segment’s products depends on the level of oilfield
completions and workover activity by oilfield service companies and drilling contractors, and capital spending plans by oil and gas companies and oilfield
service companies.

Rig Technologies

The Company’s Rig Technologies segment makes and supports the capital equipment and integrated systems needed to drill oil and gas wells on land and
offshore as well as other marine-based markets, including offshore wind vessels. The segment designs, manufactures and sells land rigs, offshore drilling
equipment packages, including installation and commissioning services, and drilling rig components that mechanize and automate the drilling process and rig
functionality. Equipment and technologies the segment brings to customers include: substructures, derricks, and masts; cranes; jacking systems; pipe lifting,
racking, rotating, and assembly systems; fluid transfer technologies, such as mud pumps; pressure control equipment, including blowout preventers; power
transmission systems, including drives and generators; rig instrumentation and control systems; mooring, anchor, and deck handling machinery; and pipelay and
construction systems. The segment also provides spare parts, repair, and rentals as well as comprehensive remote equipment monitoring, technical support, field
service, and customer training through an extensive network of aftermarket service and repair facilities strategically located in major areas of drilling operations
around the world.
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Rig Technologies supports land and offshore drillers. Demand for the segment’s products depends on drilling contractors’ and oil and gas companies’ capital
spending plans, specifically capital expenditures on rig construction and refurbishment; and secondarily on the overall level of oilfield drilling activity, which
drives demand for spare parts, service, and repair for the segment’s large installed base of equipment.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, we identified our most critical accounting policies. In preparing the financial
statements, we make assumptions, estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported. We periodically evaluate our estimates and judgments that are
most critical in nature which are related to revenue recognition (See Note 6); allowance for doubtful accounts; inventory reserves; impairment of long-lived
assets (excluding goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets); goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets; purchase price allocation of
acquisitions; warranties; and income taxes. Our estimates are based on historical experience and on our future expectations that we believe are reasonable. The
combination of these factors forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results are likely to differ from our current estimates and those differences may be material.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

For the first quarter ended March 31, 2019, the Company generated a net loss of $77 million, compared to net income of $12 million in the fourth quarter of
2018 and a net loss of $68 million in the first quarter of 2018. Operating loss for the first quarter of 2019 was $48 million, compared to operating profit of $87
million in the fourth quarter of 2018 and an operating loss of $1 million in the first quarter of 2018. First quarter 2019 Adjusted EBITDA was $140 million,
compared to $279 million in the fourth quarter of 2018 and $160 million in the first quarter of 2018.

Segment Performance
Wellbore Technologies

Wellbore Technologies generated revenues of $807 million in the first quarter of 2019, a decrease of nine percent from the fourth quarter of 2018 and an
increase of 14 percent from the first quarter of 2018. The sharp pull-back in commodity prices in late 2018 amplified the typical seasonal first quarter slowdown
in demand for equipment in international markets and resulted in lower levels of drilling activity and pricing pressure in North America, which contributed to
the sequential decline in revenues. Commodity prices, activity levels, and the Segment’s financial results were higher in March, and bookings for drill pipe
accelerated rapidly into quarter-end, resulting in the Company’s third straight sequential improvement in drill pipe orders. Operating profit was $19 million, or
2.4 percent of sales. Adjusted EBITDA decreased 25 percent sequentially and increased 14 percent from the prior year to $117 million, or 14.5 percent of sales.

Completion & Production Solutions

Completion & Production Solutions generated revenues of $581 million in the first quarter of 2019, a decrease of 26 percent from the fourth quarter of 2018
and a decrease of 13 percent from the first quarter of 2018. The sequential decrease in revenues was a result of equipment deliveries that were pulled forward
prior to year-end, limited order intake in late 2018 and the first two months of 2019, and customer-deferred deliveries. Operating loss was $35 million, and
Adjusted EBITDA decreased $84 million sequentially and $45 million from the prior year to $28 million, or 4.8 percent of sales.

Orders improved in March and totaled $470 million for the quarter, equal to the bookings in the fourth quarter and representing a book-to-bill of 149 percent
when compared to the $316 million of orders shipped from backlog. Backlog for capital equipment orders for Completion & Production Solutions at March 31,
2019 was $1.04 billion.

Rig Technologies

Rig Technologies generated revenues of $603 million in the first quarter of 2019, a decrease of 25 percent from the fourth quarter of 2018 and an increase of 25
percent from the first quarter of 2018. The sequential decline in revenues was due to lower contributions from offshore projects, fewer deliveries of capital
equipment, and the first quarter seasonal decline in service and repair work. Operating

20



profit was $31 million, or 5.1 percent of sales. Adjusted EBITDA decreased 45 percent sequentially and increased 24 percent from the prior year to $56 million,
or 9.3 percent of sales.

New orders booked during the quarter totaled $271 million, representing a book-to-bill of 110 percent when compared to the $246 million of orders shipped
from backlog. At March 31, 2019, backlog for capital equipment orders for Rig Technologies was $3.1 billion.

Oil & Gas Equipment and Services Market and Outlook

Following approximately two and a half years of steady improvements in oil prices and global drilling activity levels, commodity prices declined sharply during
the fourth quarter of 2018 due to stronger than expected growth in US oil production and concerns regarding the global economy. These developments, along
with pressure from investors on North American exploration and production companies to reduce investments and generate free cash flow, led to uncertainty in
2019 capital budgets and caused certain customers to accelerate deliveries of equipment prior to year-end. As a result, NOV reported a strong sequential
improvement in its operations during the fourth quarter of 2018, despite oil prices that fell over 40 percent late in the year.

The uncertainty surrounding 2019 budgets, and the pull-forward of equipment deliveries into 2018, led to a sharp reduction in NOV’s first quarter of 2019
revenues; however, commodity prices increased and the Company’s bookings improved through the quarter. As a result, the Company anticipates each of its
three operating segments will realize a sequential improvement in the second quarter.

Slowly improving activity in international and offshore markets, and growing market share for certain of NOV’s products and services, are expected to offset
the near-term effects of capital austerity in the North American land marketplace. Longer-term, the Company remains optimistic regarding improvements in
market fundamentals as existing oil and gas fields continue to deplete and numerous major projects to replenish supply have been deferred or canceled while
global demand continues to grow. Notwithstanding this optimism, the market outlook remains uncertain. Therefore, NOV is committed to streamlining its
operations and improving organizational efficiencies while continuing to invest in developing and acquiring new products and technologies that further advance
the Company’s competitive position, regardless of the market environment.

Operating Environment Overview

The Company’s results are dependent on, among other things, the level of worldwide oil and gas drilling, well remediation activity, the prices of crude oil and
natural gas, capital spending by other oilfield service companies and drilling contractors, and worldwide oil and gas inventory levels. Key industry indicators
for the first quarter of 2019 and 2018, and the fourth quarter of 2018 include the following:

1019 1019
1Q19* 1Q18* 4Q18* 1Q18 4Q18
Active Drilling Rigs:
U.S. 1,046 965 1,072 8.4% (2.4%)
Canada 185 273 177 (32.2%) 4.5%
International 1,029 970 1,011 6.1% 1.8%
Worldwide 2,260 2,208 2,260 2.4% (—%)
West Texas Intermediate
Crude Prices (per barrel) $ 5483 § 62.88 $ 59.08 (12.8%) (7.2%)
Natural Gas Prices ($/mmbtu) $ 287 $ 304 S 3.77 (5.6%) (23.9%)

* Averages for the quarters indicated. See sources below.
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The following table details the U.S., Canadian, and international rig activity and West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil prices for the past nine quarters ended

March 31, 2019, on a quarterly basis:

Rig Counts and Oil Prices

4,000 $140.00
3,500 1 $120.00_
T
3,000 =
- 4 sioo.00 3
[ g
2 2,500 ¥
= _ T Ly S30.00 | @
5 000 =5 ] = B
5 2 . i R <
5 - L $60.00 | £
1,500 - = @
E r ..ﬂ"" . E
[-] a
=] 1,000 - 000 =
=
500 - $20.00 =
T T 207 T sai | 4an | ais | 2aw | 3am | s | 1@ | o
Total Rigs 1977 | 1964 | 2102 | 2074 | 2208 | 2110 | 2262 | 2260 | 2260
B Canada 79 115 208 05 73 105 208 177 185
11T} 739 192 947 21 955 1037 | 1051 | 1072 | 1,046
W nternational | 939 957 07 948 970 g | 1003 | 1011 | 1020
o TXIt.(5) | $5177 | $48.24 | $48.45 | $5537 | $62.88 | $68.03 | $60.76 | $50.08 | $54.83

Source: Rig count: Baker Hughes, Inc. (www.bakerhughes.com); West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil and Natural Gas Prices: Department of Energy, Energy
Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov).

The worldwide quarterly average rig count remained flat, and the U.S. decreased two percent (from 1,072 to 1,046), in the first quarter of 2019 compared to the
fourth quarter of 2018. The average per barrel price of West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil decreased seven percent (from $59.08 per barrel to $54.83 per barrel)
and natural gas prices decreased 24 percent (from $3.77 per mmbtu to $2.87 per mmbtu) in the first quarter of 2019 compared to the fourth quarter of 2018.

U.S. rig activity at April 18, 2019 was 1,012 rigs, decreasing three percent compared to the first quarter of 2019 average of 1,046 rigs. The price for West Texas
Intermediate Crude Oil was at $64.00 per barrel at April 18, 2019, increasing seventeen percent from the first quarter of 2019 average. The price for natural gas
was at $2.49 per mmbtu at April 18, 2019, decreasing thirteen percent from the first quarter of 2019 average.
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Results of Operations

Financial results by operating segment are as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018

Revenue:

Wellbore Technologies 807 711

Completion & Production Solutions 581 670

Rig Technologies 603 483

Eliminations (51) (69)
Total revenue 1,940 1,795
Operating profit (loss):

Wellbore Technologies 19 12

Completion & Production Solutions (35) 16

Rig Technologies 31 18

Eliminations and corporate costs (63) 47)
Total operating profit (loss) (48) (1)
Operating profit (loss)%:

Wellbore Technologies 2.4% 1.7%

Completion & Production Solutions (6.0%) 2.4%

Rig Technologies 5.1% 3.7%
Total operating profit (loss)% (2.5%) (0.1%)

Wellbore Technologies

Three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Revenue from Wellbore Technologies was $807 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared
to $711 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018, an increase of $96 million or 14 percent.

Operating profit from Wellbore Technologies was $19 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $12 for the three months ended March
31,2018, an increase of $7 million. The primary driver of the year over year increase was due to increased activity.

Completion & Production Solutions

Three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Revenue from Completion & Production Solutions was $581 million for the three months ended March 31,
2019, compared to $670 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018, a decrease of $89 million or 13 percent.

Operating loss from Completion & Production Solutions was $35 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to an operating profit of $16
million for the three months ended March 31, 2018, a decrease of $51 million. Deferred deliveries of capital equipment was the primary drivers of the year over
year decrease.

The Completion & Productions Solutions segment monitors its capital equipment backlog to plan its business. New orders are added to backlog only when the
Company receives a firm written order for major completion and production components or a contract related to a construction project. The capital equipment
backlog was $1.04 billion at March 31, 2019, an increase of $31 million, or three percent from backlog of $1.01 billion at March 31, 2018. Numerous factors
may affect the timing of revenue out of backlog. Considering these factors, the Company reasonably expects approximately $840 million of revenue out of
backlog for the remainder of 2019 and approximately $201 million of revenue out of backlog in 2020 and thereafter. At March 31, 2019, approximately 53
percent of the capital equipment backlog was for offshore products and approximately 78 percent of the capital equipment backlog was destined for
international markets.

Rig Technologies

Three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Revenue from Rig Technologies was $603 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to
$483 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018, an increase of $120 million or 25 percent.
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Operating profit from Rig Technologies was $31 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to $18 million for the three months ended March
31, 2018, an increase of $13 million. The primary driver of the year over year increase was due to increased activity.

The Rig Technologies segment monitors its capital equipment backlog to plan its business. New orders are added to backlog only when the Company receives a
firm written order for major drilling rig components or a signed contract related to a construction project. The capital equipment backlog was $3.14 billion at
March 31, 2019, an increase of $1.10 billion, or 53 percent, from backlog of $2.05 billion at March 31, 2018. Numerous factors may affect the timing of
revenue out of backlog. Considering these factors, the Company reasonably expects approximately $658 million of revenue out of backlog for the remainder of
2019 and approximately $2.5 billion of revenue out of backlog in 2020 and thereafter. At March 31, 2019, approximately 33 percent of the capital equipment
backlog was for offshore products and approximately 91 percent of the capital equipment backlog was destined for international markets.

Eliminations and corporate costs

Eliminations and corporate costs were $63 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, respectively, compared to $47 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2018. This change is primarily due to the change in intersegment eliminations. Sales from one segment to another generally are priced at
estimated equivalent commercial selling prices; however, segments originating an external sale are credited with the full profit to the company. Eliminations
include intercompany transactions conducted between the three reporting segments that are eliminated in consolidation. Intrasegment transactions are
eliminated within each segment.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net were expenses of $18 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to expenses of $47 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2018. The change in expense was primarily due to the fluctuations in foreign currencies.

Provision for income taxes

The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was 11.8% and (4.8)%, respectively. The Company established valuation allowances
on deferred tax assets for losses and tax credits generated in 2018 and established valuation allowances on deferred tax assets for losses generated in 2019. The
change in the effective tax rate from 2018 to 2019 was impacted by a change in jurisdictional mix of income between the two periods and 2019 had less adverse
impact from the establishment of valuation allowances.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Reconciliations

The Company discloses Adjusted EBITDA (defined as Operating Profit excluding Depreciation, Amortization and, when applicable, Other Items) in its
periodic earnings press releases and other public disclosures to provide investors additional information about the results of ongoing operations. The Company
uses Adjusted EBITDA internally to evaluate and manage the business. Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to replace GAAP financial measures, such as Net
Income. Other items include restructure costs for facility closures, inventory write downs, severance payments and adjustments of certain reserves.

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to its most comparable GAAP financial measure (in millions):

Three Months Ended

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018 2018
Operating profit (loss):
Wellbore Technologies $ 19 3 12 3 41
Completion & Production Solutions 35) 16 64
Rig Technologies 31 18 75
Eliminations and corporate costs (63) 47) (93)
Total operating profit (loss) $ 48) $ 1) $ 87
Other items:
Wellbore Technologies $ 2) $ 3) $ 24
Completion & Production Solutions 11 3 3)
Rig Technologies 2 6 —
Corporate — (18) —
Total other items $ 11 12) $ 21
Depreciation & amortization:
Wellbore Technologies $ 100 S 9% 3 90
Completion & Production Solutions 52 54 51
Rig Technologies 23 21 27
Corporate 2 4 3
Total depreciation & amortization $ 177  § 173§ 171
Adjusted EBITDA:
Wellbore Technologies $ 117  § 103§ 155
Completion & Production Solutions 28 73 112
Rig Technologies 56 45 102
Eliminations and corporate costs (61) (61) (90)
Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 140 § 160 § 279
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA:
GAAP net income (loss) attributable to Company $ a7 $ ©8) $ 12
Noncontrolling interests 2 2 3
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (10) 3 26
Interest expense 25 24 22
Interest income 6) ) 7)
Equity (income) loss in unconsolidated affiliate — 2) 2
Other (income) expense, net 18 47 29
Depreciation and amortization 177 173 171
Other items 11 (12) 21
Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 140 § 160 § 279
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

The Company assesses liquidity in terms of its ability to generate cash to fund operating, investing and financing activities. The Company remains in a strong
financial position, with resources available to reinvest in existing businesses, strategic acquisitions and capital expenditures to meet short- and long-term
objectives. The Company believes that cash on hand, cash generated from expected results of operations, amounts available under its credit facility and its
commercial paper program will be sufficient to fund operations, anticipated working capital needs and other cash requirements such as capital expenditures,
debt and interest payments and dividend payments for the foreseeable future.

At March 31, 2019, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $1,270 million and total debt of $3,326 million. At December 31, 2018, cash and cash
equivalents were $1,427 million and total debt was $2,711 million. As of March 31, 2019, approximately $887 million of the $1,270 million of cash and cash
equivalents was held by our foreign subsidiaries and the earnings associated with this cash were subject to U.S. taxation. If opportunities to invest in the U.S.
are greater than available cash balances that are not subject to income tax, rather than repatriating cash, the Company may choose to borrow against its
revolving credit facility or utilize its commercial paper program.

The Company’s outstanding debt at March 31, 2019 was $3,326 million and consisted of $1,395 million in 2.60% Senior Notes, $1,088 million in 3.95% Senior
Notes, and lease liabilities of $843 million. The Company was in compliance with all covenants at March 31, 2019.

At March 31, 2019, there were no commercial paper borrowings, and there were no outstanding letters of credit issued under the credit facility, resulting in $3.0
billion of funds available under this credit facility.

The Company had $470 million of outstanding letters of credit at March 31, 2019, primarily in the U.S. and Norway, that are under various bilateral letter of
credit facilities. Letters of credit are issued as bid bonds, advanced payment bonds and performance bonds.

The following table summarizes our net cash provided by continuing operating activities, continuing investing activities and continuing financing activities for
the periods presented (in millions):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2019 2018
Net cash used by operating activities $ 38) $ (129)
Net cash used in investing activities (107) 61)
Net cash used in financing activities (20) (18)

Operating Activities

For the first three months of 2019, cash used by operating activities was $38 million compared to $129 million in the same period of 2018. Before changes in
operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions, cash was provided primarily by net loss from operations of $75 million plus non-cash charges of $203
million.

The change in operating assets and liabilities in the first three months of 2019 compared to the same period in 2018 was primarily due to the building of
inventories in connection with increased orders for the quarter and a reduction in accrued liabilities. Partially offsetting was a favorable change in accounts
receivable. Net changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions, used $166 million of cash for the first three months of 2019 compared to cash
provided of $258 million in the same period in 2018.

From time to time, we participate in factoring arrangements to sell accounts receivable to third-party financial institutions. In the first three months of 2019, we
sold accounts receivable of $141 million at a cost of approximately $1 million, receiving cash proceeds totaling $140 million. Our factoring transactions in the
first three months of 2019 were recognized as sales, and the proceeds are included as operating cash flows in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows.
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Investing Activities

For the first three months of 2019, net cash used in investing activities was $107 million compared to $61 million for the same period of 2018. Net cash used in
investing activities was primarily the result of capital expenditures and acquisition activity. The Company used $65 million during the first three months of
2019 for acquisitions compared to $36 million for the same period of 2018 and $43 million for capital expenditures in the first three months of 2019 compared
to $39 million for the same period of 2018.

Financing Activities

For the first three months of 2019, net cash used in financing activities was $20 million compared to $18 million for the same period of 2018. This decrease was
primarily the result of financing lease payments of $7 million for the first three months of 2019 compared to $2 million in 2018. Dividends paid were $19
million for each of the first three months of 2019 and 2018.

Other
The effect of the change in exchange rates on cash flows was an increase of $8 million and $7 million for the first three months of 2019 and 2018, respectively.

We believe that cash on hand, cash generated from operations and amounts available under our credit facilities and from other sources of debt will be sufficient
to fund operations, lease payments, working capital needs, capital expenditure requirements, dividends and financing obligations.

We intend to pursue additional acquisition candidates, but the timing, size or success of any acquisition effort and the related potential capital commitments
cannot be predicted. We continue to expect to fund future cash acquisitions primarily with cash flow from operations and borrowings, including the unborrowed
portion of the revolving credit facility or new debt issuances, but may also issue additional equity either directly or in connection with acquisitions. There can
be no assurance that additional financing for acquisitions will be available at terms acceptable to us.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 15 for recently adopted and recently issued accounting standards.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the information in this document contains, or has incorporated by reference, forward-looking statements. Statements that are not historical facts,
including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements typically are identified by use of terms
such as “may,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” and similar words, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. All statements herein
regarding expected merger synergies are forward-looking statements. You should be aware that our actual results could differ materially from results anticipated
in the forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including but not limited to changes in oil and gas prices, customer demand for our products,
difficulties encountered in integrating mergers and acquisitions, and worldwide economic activity. You should also consider carefully the statements under
“Risk Factors,” as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, which address additional factors that could cause our
actual results to differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, current or prospective investors are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update any such factors or forward-looking statements to reflect
future events or developments.

99 29 ¢
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Additional information concerning each of these matters follows:

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We have extensive operations in foreign countries. The net assets and liabilities of these operations are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
although such fluctuations generally do not affect income since their functional currency is typically the local currency. These operations also have net assets
and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency, which exposes us to changes in foreign currency exchange rates that impact income. We recorded a
foreign exchange loss in our income statement of approximately $9 million in the first three months of 2019, compared to approximately $22 million in the
same period of the prior year. The gains and losses are primarily due to exchange rate fluctuations related to monetary asset balances denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency and adjustments to our hedged positions as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Currency exchange rate
fluctuations may create losses in future periods to the extent we maintain net monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of the
countries using the local currency as their functional currency.

Some of our revenues in foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, changes in foreign currency exchange rates impact our earnings to the
extent that costs associated with those U.S. dollar revenues are denominated in the local currency. Similarly, some of our revenues are denominated in foreign
currencies, but have associated U.S. dollar costs, which also give rise to foreign currency exchange rate exposure. In order to mitigate that risk, we may utilize
foreign currency forward contracts to better match the currency of our revenues and associated costs. We do not use foreign currency forward contracts for
trading or speculative purposes.

The Company had other financial market risk sensitive instruments denominated in foreign currencies for transactional exposures totaling $20 million and
translation exposures totaling $161 million as of March 31, 2019 excluding trade receivables and payables, which approximate fair value. These market risk
sensitive instruments consisted of cash balances and overdraft facilities. The Company estimates that a hypothetical 10 percent movement of all applicable
foreign currency exchange rates on the transactional exposures financial market risk sensitive instruments could affect net income by $2 million and the
translational exposures financial market risk sensitive instruments could affect the future fair value by $16 million.

The counterparties to forward contracts are major financial institutions. The credit ratings and concentration of risk of these financial institutions are monitored
on a continuing basis. In the event that the counterparties fail to meet the terms of a foreign currency contract, our exposure is limited to the foreign currency
rate differential.

Interest Rate Risk

At March 31, 2019, long term borrowings consisted $1,395 million in 2.60% Senior Notes and $1,088 million in 3.95% Senior Notes. At March 31, 2019, there
were no commercial paper borrowings and no outstanding letters of credit issued under the credit facility, resulting in $3.0 billion of funds available under this
credit facility. Occasionally a portion of borrowings under our credit facility could be denominated in multiple currencies which could expose us to market risk
with exchange rate movements. These instruments carry interest at a pre-agreed upon percentage point spread from either LIBOR, NIBOR or CDOR, or at the
U.S. prime rate. Under our credit facility, we may, at our option, fix the interest rate for certain borrowings based on a spread over LIBOR, NIBOR or CDOR
for 30 days to six months. Our objective is to maintain a portion of our debt in variable rate borrowings for the flexibility obtained regarding early repayment
without penalties and lower overall cost as compared with fixed-rate borrowings.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures and is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Based upon that
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective
as of the end of the period covered by this report at a reasonable assurance level.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during our last
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

As of the date of this filing, the Company and its operations continue to be subject to the risk factors previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in
our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Information regarding mine safety and other regulatory actions at our mines is included in Exhibit 95 to this Form 10-Q.

Item 6. Exhibits

Reference is hereby made to the Exhibit Index commencing on page 30.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

(a) Exhibits

3.1 Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1) (1)

32 Amended and Restated By-laws of National Qilwell Varco, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1)(2)

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2017, among National Oilwell Varco, Inc., the financial institutions signatory thereto, including Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacity, among others, as Administrative Agent, Co-Lead Arranger and Joint Book Runner (Exhibit 3.1)(2),

10.2 National Oilwell Varco, Inc. 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated. (4)*

10.3 Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement. (Exhibit 10.1) (5),

10.4 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement. (Exhibit 10.2) (3),

10.5 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock. (18 Month) Agreement (Exhibit 10.1)_(6),

10.6 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock. (36 Month) Agreement (Exhibit 10.2) (6),

10.7 Form of Performance Award Agreement (Exhibit 10.1)_(7),

10.8 Form of Executive Employment Agreement. (Exhibit 10.1)_(8),

10.9 Form of Executive Severance Agreement. (Exhibit 10.2)(8),

10.10 Form of Employee Nongqualified Stock Option Grant Agreement (9)

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (9)

10.12 Form of Performance Award Agreement (9),

10.13 Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Grant Agreement

10.14 Form on Restricted Stock Agreement

10.15 Form of Performance Award Agreement

31.1 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a and Rule 15d-14(a)_of the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended.

31.2 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14a and Rule 15d-14(a)_of the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended.

32.1 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

95 Mine Safety Information pursuant to section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Act.

101 The following materials from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2019 formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting

Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as block text. (10)

* Compensatory plan or arrangement for management or others.

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2011.
2) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 11, 2017.
3) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2017

@) Filed as Appendix I to our Proxy Statement filed on March 30, 2018.

5) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2006.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2007.
7 Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2013.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000095012311073636/h82414exv3w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312517256070/d442215dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312517215536/d409469dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312518103348/d530735ddef14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000095012906001740/h33353exv10w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000095012906001740/h33353exv10w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000095012907001648/h44991exv10w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000095012907001648/h44991exv10w2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312513128340/d513083dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312517349413/d497664dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312514422086/d825978dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312516482399/d145471dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312516482399/d145471dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1021860/000119312516482399/d145471dex103.htm

®) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2017.
©) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 26, 2016.

(10) As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

We hereby undertake, pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b), paragraph (4) (iii), to furnish to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request,
all constituent instruments defining the rights of holders of our long-term debt not filed herewith.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 26, 2019 By: /s/Scott K. Duff
Scott K. Duff
Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer, Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.13

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
2018 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement

Grantee: «Name»
Date of Grant: February 27, 2019
Exercise Price per Share: $
Number of Option Shares Granted: «Shares1»
1. Notice of Grant. National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to notify you that you have been

granted an option (“Option”) to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company set forth above pursuant to the
National Oilwell Varco, Inc. 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this
Agreement. This Option is not intended to be an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

2. Vesting_and Exercise of Option. Subject to the further provisions of this Agreement, the Option shall become
vested and may be exercised in accordance with the following schedule, by written notice to the Company at its principal executive
office addressed to the attention of its Secretary (or such other officer or employee of the Company as the Company may designate
from time to time):

NUMBER OF FULL YEARS PERCENTAGE OF SHARES THAT

MAY BE PURCHASED
Less than 1 year 0%
1 year 33 1/3%
2 years 66 2/3%
3 years or more 100%

Notwithstanding the above schedule, but subject to the further provisions hereof, upon the occurrence of the following events the
Option shall vest and become exercisable as provided below:



(a) Disability. If your employment with the Company terminates by reason of a disability
that entitles you to benefits under the Company’s long-term disability plan, as determined in the sole discretion of the
Company, any unvested Option held by you and not already vested shall be 100% vested. The Option may be exercised at
any time, by you or by your guardian or legal representative, within 10 years from the above Date of Grant (or, if you die
during such period, by your estate or the person who acquires the Option by will or the laws of descent and distribution).

(b) Death. If you die while in the employ of the Company any unvested Option held by you
and not already vested shall be 100% vested. Your estate (or the person who acquires the Option by will or the laws of
descent and distribution) may exercise the Option at any time within 10 years from the above Date of Grant.

() Termination for Cause. If your employment is terminated by the Company for cause,
the Option automatically shall be cancelled and may not be exercised following your termination. The term “cause” means
(i) your gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of your duties with respect to the Company or (ii) your
final conviction of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude.

(d) Other Terminations. Subject to the terms of any applicable employment agreement or
severance agreement, if your employment with the Company is terminated for any reason other than as provided above,
including an Involuntary Termination (as defined below), the Option, to the extent vested on the date of your termination,
may be exercised, at any time during the three-month period following such termination, by you or by your guardian or
legal representative (or by your estate or the person who acquires the Option by will or the laws of descent and distribution
or otherwise by reason of the death of you if you die during such three-month period), but in each case only as to the
vested number of Option shares, if any, that you were entitled to purchase hereunder as of the date your employment so
terminates.

(e) Change of Control. The Option shall become fully vested upon your Involuntary
Termination. As used in this paragraph, "Involuntary Termination" means your termination from employment with the
Company on or within twelve months following a Change of Control that is either (i) initiated by the Company for reasons
other than cause, or (ii) initiated by you after (a) a reduction by the Company of your authority, duties or responsibilities
immediately prior to the Change of Control (excluding for this purpose (A) an insubstantial reduction of such authorities,
duties or responsibilities or an insubstantial reduction of your offices, titles and reporting requirements, or (B) an isolated,
insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and that is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of
notice thereof given by you), (b) a reduction of your base salary or total compensation as in effect immediately prior to the
Change of Control (total compensation means for this purpose: base salary, participation in an annual bonus plan, and
participation in a long-term incentive plan), or (c) your transfer, without your express written consent, to a location which
is outside the general metropolitan area in which your principal place of business immediately prior to the Change of
Control may be located or the Company's requiring you to travel on Company business to a substantially greater extent
than required
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immediately prior to the Change of Control. The term “Change of Control” shall mean: (i) the Company completes the
sale of assets having a gross sales price which exceeds 50% of the consolidated total capitalization of the Company
(consolidated total stockholders’ equity plus consolidated total long-term debt as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles) as at the end of the last full fiscal quarter prior to the date such determination is made; or
(ii) any corporation, person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) and 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Act”), becomes the beneficial owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Act) of
voting securities of the Company representing more than 30% of the total votes eligible to be cast at any election of
directors of the Company.

For purposes of this Agreement, “employment with the Company” shall include being an employee or a director of, or a
consultant to, the Company or a Subsidiary.

The provisions of any written employment or severance agreement between you and the Company concerning the vesting,
exercise and/or period for exercise of Company stock options are incorporated hereby and made a part of this Agreement.

There is no minimum or maximum number of Option shares that must be purchased upon exercise of the Option. Instead,
the Option may be exercised, at any time and from time to time, to purchase any number of Option shares that are then vested
according to the provisions of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the Option shall not be exercisable in any event after the expiration of 10 years from
the above Date of Grant.

Subject to the terms of any applicable employment agreement or severance agreement, all Option shares that are not vested
on your termination of employment for any reason other than as provided above shall be automatically cancelled and forfeited
without payment upon your termination.

3. Method of Payment. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price for the Shares being purchased may be by any of
the following, or a combination thereof: (a) cash; (b) check acceptable to the Company; (c) consideration received by the Company
under a “cashless broker” exercise program approved by the Company; (d) the constructive surrender of Shares already owned by
you; or (e) withholding Shares to be acquired upon exercise of the Option.

4. Nontransferability of Option. This Option may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or by the
laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised during your lifetime only by you. The terms of the Plan and this Agreement
shall be binding upon your executors, administrators, heirs, successors and assigns.

5. Entire Agreement; Governing Law. This Option is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall
control. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Agreement. The
Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to
the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety
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all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and you with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified
adversely to your interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and you. This Agreement is governed by the internal
substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the state of Texas.

6. Withholding of Tax. To the extent that the exercise of the Option results in the receipt of compensation by you
with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary has a tax withholding obligation pursuant to applicable law, the Company shall
withhold a number of Shares that would otherwise be delivered on exercise that have an aggregate Fair Market Value that does not
exceed the amount of taxes to be withheld to meet its withholding obligations under such applicable law, unless you, at your option,
make other arrangements with the Company or such Subsidiary to satisfy such withholding obligations. No delivery of Shares shall
be made pursuant to the exercise of the Option under this Agreement until the applicable tax withholding requirements of the
Company or Subsidiary have been satisfied in full.

7. Forfeiture in Certain Circumstances (“Clawback”). The Committee may, at its sole discretion, terminate this
Award if it determines that you have violated the Company’s Clawback Policy.




Exhibit 10.14

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
2018 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Restricted Stock Agreement

Grantee: «Name»
Date of Grant: February 27,2019
Number of Restricted Shares Granted: «Shares2»
1. Notice of Grant. National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to notify you that you have been

granted the above number of restricted shares of Common Stock (“Restricted Stock™) of the Company pursuant to the National
Oilwell Varco, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.

2. Vesting of Restricted Stock. Subject to the further provisions of this Agreement, the shares of Restricted Stock
shall become vested in accordance with the following schedule:
VESTING DATE VESTED PERCENTAGE
February 27, 2020 33 1/3%
February 27, 2021 33 1/3%
February 27, 2022 33 1/3%

Distributions on a share of Restricted Stock may be held by the Company without interest until the Restricted Stock with respect to
which the distribution was made becomes vested or is forfeited and then paid to you or forfeited, as the case may be.

Notwithstanding the above vesting schedule, but subject to the further provisions hereof, upon the occurrence of any of the
following events the shares of Restricted Stock shall vest as provided below:

(a) Change of Control. The shares of Restricted Stock shall become fully vested upon your
Involuntary Termination. As used in this paragraph, "Involuntary Termination" means your termination from employment
with the Company on or within twelve months following a Change of Control that is either (i) initiated by the Company for
reasons other than (a) your gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of your duties with the Company or
(b) your final conviction of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or (ii) initiated by you after (a) a
reduction by the Company of your authority, duties or responsibilities immediately prior to the Change of Control
(excluding for this purpose (A) an insubstantial reduction of such authorities, duties or responsibilities or an insubstantial
reduction of your offices, titles and reporting
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requirements, or (B) an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the
Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by you), (b) a reduction of your base salary or total compensation
as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control (total compensation means for this purpose: base salary,
participation in an annual bonus plan, and participation in a long-term incentive plan), or (c) your transfer, without your
express written consent, to a location which is outside the general metropolitan area in which your principal place of
business immediately prior to the Change of Control may be located or the Company's requiring you to travel on Company
business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Change of Control. The term “Change of
Control” shall mean: (i) the Company completes the sale of assets having a gross sales price which exceeds 50% of the
consolidated total capitalization of the Company (consolidated total stockholders’ equity plus consolidated total long-term
debt as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) as at the end of the last full fiscal quarter
prior to the date such determination is made; or (ii) any corporation, person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)
(3) and 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act”), becomes the beneficial owner (within the
meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Act) of voting securities of the Company representing more than 30% of the total votes
eligible to be cast at any election of directors of the Company.

(b) Disability. If your employment with the Company terminates by reason of a disability
that entitles you to benefits under the Company’s long-term disability plan, as determined in the sole discretion of the
Company, any shares of Restricted Stock held by you and not already vested shall be 100% vested.

() Death. If you die while in the employ of the Company, any shares
of Restricted Stock held by you and not already vested shall be 100% vested.

For purposes of this Agreement, “employment with the Company” shall include being an employee or a director of, or a
consultant to, the Company or Subsidiary.

The provisions of any written employment or severance agreement between you and the Company concerning the vesting
of Restricted Stock are incorporated hereby and made a part of this Agreement.

Subject to the terms of any applicable employment agreement or severance agreement, all shares of Restricted Stock that
are not vested on your termination of employment for any reason other than as provided in (a), (b) and (c) above shall be
automatically cancelled and forfeited without payment upon your termination.

3. Custody_of Restricted Stock; Ownership Rights. Upon vesting and satisfying all applicable tax withholding
obligations, the Company shall cause a book-entry registration or certificate or certificates to be issued without legend (except for
any legend required pursuant to applicable securities laws or any other agreement to which you are a party) in your name evidencing
the shares of Restricted Stock that have vested. Prior to the satisfaction of such vesting conditions or the occurrence of such events,
the Restricted Stock is not transferable and shall be held in trust by the Secretary of the Company or such other depository as may be
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designated by the Committee as a depository for safekeeping until the forfeiture of such Restricted Stock occurs or the vesting of the
shares pursuant to the terms of the Plan and this Agreement. In the Company’s sole discretion, the Restricted Stock may be
evidenced by an electronic book-entry account in your name created by the Company’s stock transfer agent. No book-entry
registration or physical certificates evidencing the Restricted Stock will be issued to you until the satisfaction of all vesting
conditions set forth herein and the satisfaction of all applicable tax withholding obligations. You shall, if required by the Committee,
deliver to the Company a stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the Restricted Stock. Subject to the restrictions set forth herein,
you are entitled to all voting and ownership rights applicable to the Restricted Stock, whether or not vested.

4. Nontransferability of Restricted Stock. You may not sell, transfer, pledge, exchange, hypothecate or dispose of
shares of Restricted Stock in any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution. A breach of these terms of
this Agreement shall cause a forfeiture of the shares of Restricted Stock.

5. Entire Agreement; Governing Law. These shares of Restricted Stock are granted under and governed by the
terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of
the Plan shall control. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this
Agreement. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and
you with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to your interest except by means of a writing signed
by the Company and you. This Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the state
of Texas.

6. Withholding of Tax. To the extent that the vesting of Restricted Stock results in the receipt of compensation by
you with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary has a tax withholding obligation pursuant to applicable law, the Company
shall withhold a number of Shares that would otherwise be delivered on vesting that have an aggregate Fair Market Value that does
not exceed the amount of taxes to be withheld to meet your tax withholding obligations, unless you, at your option, deliver to the
Company or the Subsidiary such amount of money as the Company or the Subsidiary may require to meet its withholding obligations
in lieu of the withholding of Shares. No delivery of unrestricted Shares shall be made under this Agreement until the applicable tax
withholding requirements of the Company or Subsidiary have been satisfied in full.

7. Forfeiture in Certain Circumstances (“Clawback”). The Committee may, at its sole discretion, terminate this
Award if it determines you have violated the Company’s Clawback Policy.
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Exhibit 10.15

NATIONAL OILWELL VARCO, INC.
2018 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE AWARD AGREEMENT

Grantee:
Date of Grant:
“Target Level” Shares that may be earned: TSR Based Award:
NVA Based Award:
1. Notice of Grant. National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to notify you that you have been

granted a Performance Award (“Award”) equal to the above aggregate number of shares of Common Stock of the Company pursuant
to the National Oilwell Varco, Inc. 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and
this Agreement. For any employment agreement, the Award referenced herein will be considered “performance-based restricted
stock.”

2. Performance Period and Performance Criteria. The Award’s performance period (“Performance Period) and
criteria (“Performance Criteria”) are set forth in Exhibit A to this Agreement. The Performance Criteria have been established by the
Committee, which shall determine and certify whether such criteria have been satisfied.

3. Payment.

(a) Subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, following the end of the
Performance Period, you shall be entitled to receive a payment of a number of shares of Common Stock of the Company
based on the level of achievement of the Performance Criteria set forth on Exhibit A hereto during the Performance Period,
as determined and certified by the Committee in writing, such number of shares not to exceed the maximum level of shares
set forth on Exhibit A. The payment of such number of shares shall be made not earlier than January 1, 2022 and not later
than March 15, 2022 or such other time as complies with Code Section 409A. If it is subsequently determined by the
Committee, in its sole discretion, that the terms and conditions of this Agreement and/or the Plan are not compliant with
Code Section 409A, or any Treasury regulations or Internal Revenue Service guidance promulgated thereunder, this
Agreement and/or the Plan may be amended accordingly.

(b) Distributions on a share of Common Stock (including dividends) underlying the Award
shall accrue and be held by the Company without interest until the Award with respect to which the distribution was made
becomes vested or is forfeited and then paid to you or forfeited, as the case may be.



(©) Change of Control. In the event of your Involuntary Termination (as defined below),
the Performance Criteria for the full Performance Period shall be deemed satisfied at the target level. The Committee shall
certify that such Performance Criteria have been satisfied at such level and provide for the payment of the target level of
shares of Common Stock at or prior to your Involuntary Termination. As used in this paragraph, "Involuntary
Termination" means your termination from employment with the Company on or within twelve months following a
Change of Control (as defined in the Plan) that is either (i) initiated by the Company for reasons other than (a) your gross
negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of your duties with the Company or (b) your final conviction of a
felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or (ii) initiated by you after (a) a reduction by the Company of your
authority, duties or responsibilities immediately prior to the Change of Control (excluding for this purpose (A) an
insubstantial reduction of such authorities, duties or responsibilities or an insubstantial reduction of your offices, titles and
reporting requirements, or (B) an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied
by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by you), (b) a reduction of your base salary or total
compensation as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control (total compensation means for this purpose: base
salary, participation in an annual bonus plan, and participation in a long-term incentive plan), or (c) your transfer, without
your express written consent, to a location which is outside the general metropolitan area in which your principal place of
business immediately prior to the Change of Control may be located or the Company's requiring you to travel on Company
business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to the Change of Control.

(d) Disability. If your employment with the Company terminates by reason of a disability
that entitles you to benefits under the Company’s long-term disability plan, as determined in the sole discretion of the
Company, the Performance Criteria for the full Performance Period shall be deemed satisfied at the target level. The
Committee shall certify that such Performance Criteria have been satisfied at such level and provide for the payment of the
target level of shares of Common Stock based on the date of termination.

(e) Death. If you die while in the employ of the Company, the Performance Criteria for the
full Performance Period shall be deemed satisfied at the target level. The Committee shall certify that such Performance
Criteria have been satisfied at such level and provide for the payment of the target level of shares of Common Stock based
on the date of death.

) Subject to the terms of any applicable employment agreement or severance agreement,
upon termination of your employment for any reason other than as provided in subparagraphs (c), (d), and (e) above, the
Award shall be automatically cancelled and forfeited without payment.

4. Status of Shares of Common Stock. You agree that any shares of Common Stock distributed to you pursuant
to this Agreement will not be sold or otherwise disposed of in any manner which would constitute a violation of any applicable
federal or state securities laws. You also agree that (a) any certificates representing such shares may bear such legend or legends as

.,



the Committee in its sole discretion deems appropriate in order to assure compliance with applicable securities laws and (b) the
Company may refuse to register the transfer of such shares on the stock transfer records of the Company, and may give related
instructions to its transfer agent, if any, to stop registration of such transfer, if such proposed transfer would in the opinion of counsel
satisfactory to the Company constitute a violation of any applicable securities law. In the Company’s sole discretion, any shares of
Common Stock distributed to you pursuant to this Agreement may be evidenced by an electronic book entry account in your name
created by the Company’s transfer agent. You shall not have any voting rights with respect to any share of Common Stock
underlying the Award until such share is distributed to you in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

5. Entire Agreement; Governing Law. The Award shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and
this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall control. Unless
otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this Agreement. The Plan is
incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and you with respect to
the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to your interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company
and you. This Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the state of Texas.

6. Withholding_of Tax. To the extent that payment of the Award results in compensation income to you for
federal or state income tax purposes, the Company shall withhold from any shares of Common Stock distributable to you under this
Agreement a number of such shares having an aggregate fair market value that does not exceed the amount of taxes required to be
withheld by reason of such resulting compensation income, unless you, at your option, deliver to the Company such amount of
money as the Company may require to meet its withholding obligations in lieu of the withholding of shares of Common Stock. No
delivery of shares of Common Stock shall be made under this Agreement until the applicable tax withholding requirements of the
Company related to the payment of the Award have been satisfied in full.

7. Forfeiture in Certain Circumstances (“Clawback”). The Committee may, at its sole discretion, terminate this
Award if it determines that you have violated the Company’s Clawback Policy.




Exhibit A

Performance Period and Criteria

Performance Period: January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2021

Performance Criteria:

The Award is divided into two independent pieces: one in which any payment is determined based on relative performance using
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) (the “TSR Based Award”) and one in which any payment is determined based on performance
against the Company’s returns on capital metric, National Oilwell Varco Value Added (“NVA”) (the “NVA Based Award”). No
portion of the TSR Based Award will be earned if the Company’s performance during the Performance Period is below the threshold
level of the Performance Criteria for the TSR Based Award as described below. No portion of the NVA Based Award will be earned
if the Company’s performance during the Performance Period is below the threshold level of the Performance Criteria for the NVA
Based Award as described below. The Company’s performance with respect to the TSR Based Award will not impact any payment
earned with respect to the NVA Based Award, and vice versa.

TSR Based Award:

This piece of the Award is based on the Company’s TSR as measured against the TSR of the constituents of the OSX Index. The
composition of the OSX comparator group shall be based on the companies listed in the OSX Index on December 31, 2021. Such
comparison will be based on a percentile approach as detailed below with any payment based on linear interpolation between
threshold and maximum levels. TSR for the Company and the OSX comparator group to be calculated over the entire 3-year
Performance Period (using a 30-day averaging period for the first 30 calendar days and the last 30 calendar days of the Performance
Period to mitigate the effect of stock price volatility). TSR calculation to assume reinvestment of dividends. Companies that are not
publicly listed during the entire Performance Period shall not be included in the OSX comparator group. Comparator companies that
file for bankruptcy or delist at any time during the Performance Period will remain in the OSX comparator group with a TSR that
places such companies at the bottom of the percentile rankings. The Award will be not earned if the Company’s performance during
the Performance Period is below the threshold level of the Performance Criteria as described below.

Level Percentile Rank vs. Comparator Group Payout Percentage*
Maximum 75th Percentile and above 200% of Target Level
Target 50th percentile 100% of Target Level
Threshold 25th percentile 50% of Target Level

Below 25th percentile 0%

* Based on the Target Level shares set forth on the first page of this Agreement.



NVA Based Award:

This piece of the Award is based on the Company’s improvement in NVA (based on the Company’s consolidated financial results)
from the beginning of the Performance Period (January 1, 2019) until the end of the Performance Period (December 31, 2021). NVA
shall be calculated as an amount equal to the Company’s (a) gross cash earnings less (b) average gross operating assets times an
amount equal to a required return on assets (as determined by the Committee). The Award will be not earned if the Company’s
performance during the Performance Period is below the threshold level of the Performance Criteria as described below. Any
payment will be based on linear interpolation between threshold and maximum levels as detailed below.

NVA: Absolute NVA
Level Performance Payout Percentage*
Maximum [Breakeven|[ ] NVA 200% of Target Level
Target Midpoint NVA of [ ] 100% of Target Level
Threshold [Equal to 2018 NVA of [ ] 50% of Target Level
Below 2018 NVA of [ ] 0%

* Based on the Target Level for the NVA Based Award set forth on the first page of this Agreement.



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Clay C. Williams, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of National Oilwell Varco, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 26,2019

By:  /s/Clay C. Williams
Clay C. Williams
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jose A. Bayardo, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of National Oilwell Varco, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 26,2019

By:  /s/Jose A. Bayardo
Jose A. Bayardo
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Clay C. Williams, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(i) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

The certification is given to the knowledge of the undersigned.

By: /s/ Clay C. Williams
Name:  Clay C. Williams
Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 26, 2019



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of National Oilwell Varco, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Jose A. Bayardo, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(i) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

The certification is given to the knowledge of the undersigned.

By: /s/ Jose A. Bayardo

Name: Jose A. Bayardo

Title:  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date:  April 26,2019




Exhibit 95

Mine Safety Disclosures

Our mines are operated subject to the regulation of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”), under the Federal Mine Safety and Health
Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”). The following mine safety data is provided pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the
“Dodd-Frank Act”).

As required by the reporting requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act, as amended, the table below presents the following information for the three months ended
March 31, 2019. (in whole dollars) (Unaudited)

Received
Received  Notice of Legal
Notice of  Potential Actions

Section Total Dollar Total Pattern of to have Pending Legal Legal
Section 104(d) Value of Number Violations Patterns as of Actions Actions
104 Section Citations Section Section MSHA of Mining Under Under Last Initiated  Resolved
S&S 104(b) and 110(b)(2) 107(a) Assessments Related Section Section Day of During During
Mine Citations Orders Orders Violations Orders Proposed Fatalities 104(e) 104(e) Period Period Period
Dry Creek (26-02646) — — — — — 8 — — no no — — —

Osino Barite Mill (26-
02724) — — — — — 3 121 — no no — — —



